
Meeting contact Dave Lee or email dlee@southribble.gov.uk

PLANNING COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, 7TH FEBRUARY, 2018, 6.00 PM

SHIELD ROOM, CIVIC CENTRE, WEST PADDOCK, LEYLAND PR25 
1DH

AGENDA

1 Welcome and Introduction

2 Apologies for Absence

3 Declaration of Interest

Members are requested to indicate at this stage in the 
proceedings any items on the agenda in which they intend to 
declare an interest. Members are reminded that if the interest 
is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the 
Members’ Code of Conduct) they must leave the room for the 
whole of that item. If the interest is not a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, but is such that a member of the public 
could reasonably regard it as being so significant that it is 
likely that it would prejudice their judgment of the public 
interest (as explained in the Code of Conduct) then they may 
make representations, but then must leave the meeting for 
the remainder of the item.

4 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 5 - 8)

Held on Wednesday, 10 January 2018, to be signed as a 
correct record.

5 Appeal Decisions

A verbal update will be given in respect of recent planning 
appeals.

6 Planning Application 07/2017/3283/FUL - Windmill Hotel, 
Preston New Road, Mellor Brook

(Pages 9 - 28)

Report of the Planning Manager attached.

7 Planning Application 07/2017/3413/REM - Expac 
(preston) Ltd, Dunkirk Mill, Dunkirk Lane, Moss Side, 
Leyland

(Pages 29 - 38)

Report of the Planning Manager attached.

Public Document Pack



8 Planning Application 07/2017/3818/FUL - Land At Club 
Street, Club Street, Bamber Bridge

(Pages 39 - 52)

Report of the Planning Manager attached.

Heather McManus
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Electronic agendas sent to Members of the Planning Committee Councillors 
Jon Hesketh (Chair), Rebecca Noblet (Vice-Chair), Renee Blow, Carol Chisholm, 
Bill Evans, Malcolm Donoghue, Derek Forrest, Mary Green, Ken Jones, Jim Marsh, 
Mike Nathan, Mike Nelson, Caleb Tomlinson, Linda Woollard and Barrie Yates

The minutes of this meeting will be available on the internet at 
www.southribble.gov.uk

Forthcoming Meetings
6.00 pm Wednesday, 7 March 2018 - Shield Room, Civic Centre, West Paddock, 
Leyland PR25 1DH

Procedure of Debate at Planning Committee

Whenever a planning application is dealt with by Planning Committee the Council is 
keen to allow the local community to participate in the process. The procedure that 
will ordinarily be followed is that:-

 Up to five members of the public who wish to speak against an application will 
be allowed to speak. Each will have up to four minutes in which to state their 
case.

 Up to five members of the public who wish to speak in favour of an application 
will then be allowed to speak. Again each will have up to four minutes in which 
to state their case.

 Borough councillors (not on Planning Committee) will then have the 
opportunity to make representations about the application. Each will have up 
to four minutes to state their case – whether for or against.

 The applicant/agent will then be invited to speak in support of the application. 
Ordinarily he/she will have up to four minutes to speak.

 The application will be then be discussed by Committee. At this point 
members of the public, the applicant and other councillors not on Committee 
will not be able to speak further.

 Planning Committee will then take a vote on the matter.
 No paperwork, plans or photographs will be allowed to be circulated by the 

applicant/agent or member of the public at the meeting.

The Chairman of Planning Committee has discretion to vary these rules when 
dealing with a particular application if he considers it appropriate.  Whenever 
members of the public speak (whether in opposition to a proposal or in favour of it) 
they should avoid repeating the same points made by other speakers.

Filming/Recording Meetings

http://www.southribble.gov.uk/


The Council will allow any member of the public to take photographs, film, audio-
record and report on any Planning Committee meeting. If anyone is intending to 
record any such meeting (or part of such a meeting) then it would be very helpful if 
they could give prior notice of their intention to the Council's Democratic Services 
Team. Ideally 48 hours' notice should be given.

When exercising the rights to record a Planning Committee meeting a member of the 
public must not in any way be disruptive to that meeting. They must not provide an 
oral commentary on the meeting whilst it is continuing. If disruption is caused then 
the Chairman of the meeting may exclude that person from the rest of the meeting.

Members of the public will not be entitled to stay in the meeting if any confidential 
(exempt) items of business are being discussed.

Full details of planning applications, associated documents including related 
consultation replies can be found on the Public Access for planning system, 
searching for the application using the Simple Search box. 
http://publicaccess.southribble.gov.uk/online-applications/

http://publicaccess.southribble.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Wednesday 10 January 2018

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE

MEETING DATE Wednesday, 10 January 2018

MEMBERS PRESENT: Councillors Jon Hesketh (Chair), Rebecca Noblet (Vice-Chair), 
Carol Chisholm, Bill Evans, Derek Forrest, Mary Green, 
Ken Jones, Mike Nathan, Mike Nelson, Caleb Tomlinson, 
Linda Woollard and Barrie Yates

OFFICERS: Jonathan Noad (Planning Manager), Tom Graham (Local 
Planning Solicitor), Catherine Lewis (Senior Planning Officer), 
Debbie Roberts (Planning Officer), Mike Davies (Planning 
Officer) and Dave Lee (Democratic Services Officer)

OTHER MEMBERS
AND OFFICERS:

Councillor Colin Clark (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Support and Assets), Councillor Clifford Hughes 
MBE (Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and Housing), 
Councillor Margaret Smith and Councillor Phil Smith (Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Leisure)

PUBLIC: 5

89 Welcome and Introduction

The Chairman, Councillor Jon Hesketh, welcomed members of the public to the 
meeting and introduced the committee and explained the proceedings and the role 
of its members.

90 Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Renee Blow, Mal 
Donoghue and Jim Marsh.

91 Declaration of Interest

Councillor Caleb Tomlinson declared a personal interest in planning application 
07/2017/3144/FUL as he was a ward member, but was able under the Code of 
Conduct for Elected Members, to remain in the meeting during the consideration of 
the application.

Councillor Bill Evans declared a personal interest in planning application 
07/2017/3296/FUL as he was a ward member and a former Chair of Governors at 
the school, but was able under the Code of Conduct for Elected Members, to remain 
in the meeting during the consideration of the application.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



34

Planning Committee Wednesday 10 January 2018

92 Minutes of the Last Meeting

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2017 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the chairman.

93 Appeal Decisions

There were no appeal decisions to report.

94 Planning Application 07/2017/3652/FUL - Land South Of Orchard Avenue, 
New Longton

Address: Land South Of Orchard Avenue, New Longton, Lancashire

Applicant: ADB Preston Ltd 

Agent: Mrs Margaret Eastham, 6 The Old Bank House Berry Lane, Longridge, 
Preston, PR3 3JA

Development: Erection of two pairs semi-detached dwellings including garages, 
following demolition of existing storage buildings

During the course of the meeting, the Planning Officer stated that Condition 15 as 
set out in the report should read “No part of the development hereby approved shall 
be occupied until the approved scheme referred to in Condition 14 has been 
constructed and completed in accordance with the scheme details.”

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED: 

That planning permission be approved subject to the conditions as set out in the 
report (and the amendment to Condition 15 as reported at the meeting).

95 Planning Application 07/2017/3144/FUL - 348 Station Road, Bamber Bridge

Address: 348 Station Road, Bamber Bridge, Preston, Lancashire, PR5 6EL

Applicant: Mr A Rehman

Agent: Mr Kiran Patel, 2 Fossdale Moss, Leyland, PR26 7AT

Development: Change of use of ground floor and sub-division to (Class A1 Retail) 
and Hot Food Takeaway (Class A5) with ancillary dining area from light industrial 
use (Class B1)

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED: 

That planning permission be refused for the reasons as set out below.

1. The proposal is contrary to the Policy 17 of the Core Strategy and Policies B1 and 
G17 of the South Ribble Local Plan 2012 - 2016, in that it would, if permitted, be 
harmful to the living conditions of nearby residents as a result of odours, noise, 

Page 6



35

Planning Committee Wednesday 10 January 2018

nuisance, and general disturbance resulting in a detrimental impact on residential 
amenity.

2. The proposal would be harmful to the architectural character of the building due to 
the unsympathetic alterations proposed to the front elevations which are contrary to 
Policy 17 of the Core Strategy and Policies B1 and G17 of the South Ribble Local 
Plan 2012 - 2026.

3. The proposal is contrary to Policies 10 and 11 of the the Central Lancashire Core 
Strategy as the site is not within a designated shopping centre and it has not been 
demonstrated that the site has been rigously marketed for employment uses.

96 Planning Application 07/2017/3296/FUL - Golden Hill Short Stay School, 
Earnshaw Drive, Leyland

Address: Golden Hill Short Stay School, Earnshaw Drive, Leyland
Applicant: The McAvoy Group Ltd on behalf of the Secretary of State

Agent: Mrs Bernadette Broderick JLL, One Piccadilly Gardens, Manchester, M1 1RG

Development: Erection of single storey school with associated landscaping, car parking and 
access following demolition of existing Golden Hill Short stay school

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED: 

That planning permission be approved subject to the conditions as set out in the report.

………………………………………………..Chair

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number 07/2017/3283/FUL

Address Windmill Hotel
Preston New Road
Mellor Brook
Blackburn
Lancashire
BB2 7NS

Applicant  James Hall & Company Ltd

Agent
Mrs Deborah Smith

Albert Edward House
The Pavilions
Preston
PR2 2YB

Development  Erection of petrol filling station, including fuel 
tanks, convenience foodstore and associated 
access, car parking and lanscaping following 
demolition of existing public house

Officer Recommendation
Officer Name

Approval with Conditions 
Mr Mike Davies

Date application valid 27.10.2017
Target Determination Date 22.12.2017
Extension of Time 08.02.2018

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



1.0 SUMMARY

1.1 Following the withdrawal of an earlier an earlier application for a petrol filling station 
and convenience store on the site at the corner of Preston New Road and Branch 
Road, this new proposal has been brought forward following extensive work to 
address the concerns of County Highways. 

1.2 The proposal has engendered a significant amount of local objection and details of 
these concerns are contained in the main body of the report. The site itself was 
formally used as a public house and there were no restrictions in terms of its use from 
a planning perspective. Therefore effectively as a fall back position under the current 
lawful use of the site a 24 hour eatery could open up utilising the existing building 
without the need for planning permission as the current use as drinking establishment 
(Class A4) can change to a restaurant (Class A3) or retail (Class A1) under permitted 
development without the need to apply for planning permission. 

1.3 Having regard to the fall-back position and taking into account that the Highway 
Authority are now satisfied with the proposal, it is considered that it would be 
extremely difficult to substantiate a refusal based on impact on amenities. Clearly, 
there are probably more suitable uses for the site which may cause less disturbance 
in the locality, but the proposal before the Local Planning Authority is for a petrol 
filling station with convenience store. Whilst, there is considerable weight of feeling 
against the development it is considered that the proposal is policy compliant, 
addresses highway safety concerns and will not have a lesser impact on the 
amenities of the surrounding neighbours than the current unregulated public house 
use. With this in mind it is difficult to construct a justification for refusing the 
application which could withstand an appeal and accordingly it is recommended for 
approval subject to appropriate conditions to mitigate its impacts.                

2.0 APPLICATION SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA

2.1 The application site is the Former Windmill public house site and associated car park. 
The site is located at the junction of Preston New Road and Branch Road. Branch 
Road forms the borough boundary with the Borough of Ribble Valley. The premises 
ceased trading as a public house in the autumn of 2014 and the site has been vacant 
since. 

2.2 The northern and western boundaries of the site adjoin residential properties with 
roads being on the other two sides of the site. Across these roads the site faces more 
residential properties. There is a group of trees on the western boundary of the site 
which are to be retained, however the trees along the northern boundary adjacent 15 
Branch Road have already been removed, although originally indicated as being 
retained. The public house itself sits at the south eastern corner of the site at the 
junction of Preston New Road and Branch Road and is two storeys in height. The 
existing building will be demolished as part of these proposals.   

    
2.3 The site is within an existing B1 - Built up Area as defined on the South Ribble Local 

Plan Policy Map.     

3.0 SITE HISTORY

3.1 Planning application (07/2016/0552/FUL) was submitted for a petrol filing station with 
a convenience store in 2016, however this was subsequently withdrawn by the 
applicant prior to a decision being made.   

4.0 PROPOSAL

Page 10



4.1 The proposals is for a new petrol filling station (PFS) incorporating a convenience 
store on the site of the former Windmill Public House. The proposal will involve the 
demolition of the existing public house situated on the corner of Preston New Road 
and Branch Road. The cleared site will then be redeveloped with a new petrol filling 
station compromising of a canopy over eight fuel pumps and a single storey 
convenience store with a gross floor area of approximately 210 square metres. The 
retail floor space created will therefore be below the Community Infrastructure Levy 
threshold and the proposal will not be CIL liable.  

4.2 A new access/egress will be created to the site from Branch Road with an existing 
dropped kerb being removed. The existing access from Preston New Road will be re-
opened and altered to allow access only to the site and alligator teeth traffic control 
measures will be fitted at the entrance to prevent vehicles leaving via Preston New 
Road.   

4,3 The proposed opening hours of the petrol filling station and convenience store are 
0600 – 2300 hours daily.       

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 433 representations have been received in relation to the proposal. Many of the 
objections have referred to existing petrol filling station provision in the area and that 
a further petrol filling station is not required. The regulation of competition is not a 
material planning consideration and therefore cannot be taken into account when 
determining this planning application. 

5.2 The impact on property values has also been raised as a concern, however again this 
is not a material planning consideration that can be taken into account when 
determining planning applications. 

5.3 In addition to the comments received in relation to over provision of petrol filling 
stations in the locality the following concerns which are material considerations in 
relation to the determination of this planning application have been raised.

The junction of the A677/Branch Road is an accepted dangerous one and to put a 
petrol filling station and food store on this site is very dangerous.

To have vehicles entering of Preston New Road is extremely dangerous.
Vehicles turning into the site would obliterate the view of the pedestrian crossing.
The bus stop would cause problems for vehicles turning on to the site.
Large vehicles would have to swing out across the road to enter the site.
Exiting on to Branch Road would cause nuisance to local residents.
Branch Road is to be traffic calmed as a requirement of the redevelopment of the 

Enterprise Zone at BAE this proposal will increase traffic on Branch Road and a 
weight restriction was imposed.

Increase in on street parking on Branch Road detrimental to highway safety.
Increased traffic on Intack Lane as will be used as a short cut. 
Hours should be restricted to 0700 – 2200 to reflect those at the current Windmill 

PFS. 
The lighting which the PFS has indicated will cause light pollution.
The noise generated from this site will cause distress to local residents.
The smell of fumes will be unacceptable
Due to the configuration of the site, the tanker re-filling the tanks would not be able to 

vacate the site in an emergency.
Local houses would be endangered should there be any emergencies. 

Page 11



The original portion of the Windmill Public House is of local architectural value and as 
such should be included in any future development of the site rather than 
destroyed

Out of Character with the area. 
The proposals do not show any car washing/jet washing/car vacuuming facilities. 

These are part and parcel of PFS forecourts these are extremely noisy activities.
Concern over the quality, content and accuracy of the accompanying Transport 

statement. 
Overdevelopment 
Concern at 24 hour use of site
Impact on privacy
Increase in litter
Trees shown as being retained on the submitted plans were removed by contractors 

on 2/11/17. 
Site would be better development for affordable housing for local people.
Highway safety issues
Residential Amenity
Pollution

5.4 A letter of objection has also been received from Nigel Evans MP who states that the 
junction of A677 where the petrol station would be sited is exceptionally dangerous 
and would be of detriment to road users, especially those entering off Preston New 
Road. There would be further safety issues caused by turning vehicles blocking the 
pedestrian crossing, and by HGV’s turning into the site. Beyond the highway issues, 
there would be considerable noise and light pollution from the site.   

5.5 Samlesbury Parish Council – wishes to object on the following grounds:

 The opening onto Preston New Road is deemed to be dangerous and has been 
refused at least twice in the past. It is in close proximity to a road junction, 
pedestrian crossing and the ingress/egress of the existing filling station some 
500m away. Also with the opening of the Spur Road this month, the road will be 
even busier. 

 Noise and light pollution. 
 Egress from a petrol station should be no less than 100 metres from a road 

junction. This is not the case. If the egress was moved further from the junction 
then it would encroach on properties on Branch Road. 

 Following the removal of trees it is believed that the resident bats now occupy the 
hotel. 

 A need for another filling station/convenience store cannot be justified as there 
are already two on a 2 mile stretch of road.

5.6 Mellor Parish Council - wishes to object to this application, which is substantially very 
similar to the previous one for this site, which, following considerable local opposition, 
was withdrawn. The grounds for objecting are as follows:

 The site has bollards installed on A677 side due to previous numerous, major & 
fatal accidents in this blackspot - therefore no access on A677 should be allowed. 
Branch Road will have speed and weight restrictions applied March 2018, 
therefore exit for all vehicles, particularly large vehicles will cause further hazards.

 An additional fuel station is necessary & retail consent for a development at 
Branch Road roundabout adjacent to A59 has been allowed, therefore further 
retail is not needed.

 Affordable housing for this site would be more beneficial to this area, giving 
sustainability in a strong employment area.

Page 12



6.0 CONSULTATION REPLIES

6.1 LCC Highways – Originally raised a number of concerns relating to technical details 
in relation to the design of the proposal. Following discussions these have now been 
addressed by the submissions of amended plans which address these aspects. In 
addition to the plans being reviewed by the County Highways Engineer, LCC's safety 
audit team have also undertaken a review of the proposals. The Highway Authority 
have therefore made the following observation in relation to the revised plans. 

6.2 Preston New Road, the A677 is a Strategic Route, with a 30mph speed limit 
restriction on the sites frontage.

6.3 Having reviewed Lancashire County Council’s five year data base for Personal Injury 
Accident (PIA). The data base indicates there has been seven recorded incidents (1 
serious and 6 slight) within the vicinity of the junction of Preston New Road and 
Branch Road. On investigation of all the details recorded, the incidents appear to be 
of a nature that would not be worsened by the proposals.

6.4 The amended site plan (335 p-08 Rev F) shows that the site will provide 23 parking 
spaces, I am of the opinion that this level of parking is acceptable for the proposed 
development. 

6.5 Two Sheffield style bicycle stands are proposed, this will provide parking for four 
bicycles. This level of cycle parking is acceptable.

6.6 A 7.5 tonne weight restriction (except for access) is planned for Branch Road. HGV's 
servicing the proposed site would legally be able to access Branch Road under the 
'except for access' provision. If the proposed development is approved amendments 
to this highway scheme will need to be considered under the section 278 agreement 
for the development. This will need to include possible alterations to the proposed 
location of the 7.5 tonne weight limit signs and also the speed cushions that are 
proposed for Branch Road in the location of the proposed exit point.

6.7 The Internal layout, access and egress arrangements/measures and swept paths as 
shown in the amended site plans (335 p-08 Rev F, 335 p-09 Rev E and 335 p-11 Rev 
F) are acceptable. 

6.8 The new and amended site accesses and associated off-site works will need to be 
constructed under a section 278 agreement of the 1980 Highways Act. The Highway 
Authority hereby reserves the right to provide the highway works within the highway 
associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway works includes design, 
procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. The applicant is 
advised to contact LCC Community Services before works begin on site. 

6.9 Taking all of the above into consideration it would be difficult to prove that the 
proposed use would have a severe impact and the principle of a petrol filling station 
and convenience food store at this site is acceptable from the highway aspect. 
Therefore LCC Highways has no objections to the application subject to appropriate 
conditions. 

6.10 Highways England - Having considered the scale and location of the site in question 
(which is located some distance away from the strategic road network), the 
development proposal is not relevant for Highways England to comment upon

6.11 Environmental Health – The proposed development has the potential to adversely 
affect the surrounding residential properties and as such the following conditions are 
considered essential to minimise the impacts to an acceptable level. 

Page 13



6.12 The submitted noise assessment has been reviewed and is generally accepted. 
However, the report states that the only plant that will be used during the night-time 
are the two air cooled condensers. With the air conditioning units only being used 
during store opening hours. The requested opening hours are from 06:00 to 23:00 
with presumably staff arrived before and leaving after these times. As a minimum this 
would mean that air conditioning units would be operating from 06:00. A period of 
time recognised in all standard guidance as night-time and a period when people are 
arousing from sleep and potentially more likely to result in an adverse impact than the 
middle of the night (BS4142). As the predicted level has been ascertained via 
modelling this should be remodelled to include all of the external plant, to confirm 
there is no adverse impact. 

6.13 The report further identifies that early morning deliveries are likely to results in an 
adverse impact on neighbouring properties with a suggested solution that engines 
and refrigeration plant are switched off. This doesn’t address the arrival of the 
delivery vehicle or any ‘clangs and bangs’ from movement of cages. Experience has 
shown that delivery drivers do not always follow instructions with regard to turning off 
refrigeration units etc particularly relief drivers. Therefore the following conditions 
restricting delivery and waste collection times are suggested. 

6.14 In addition, conditions to address the following issues are also recommended:
 prevention of burning of waste materials
 a dust management plan
 control hours of construction
 contamination found during works 
 a lighting scheme 
 10% of parking bays to be provided with electrical charging point   

6.15 Arborist – Trees identified for retention should have protective fencing erected in 
accordance with BS 7837 2012 prior to construction commencement and remain in-
situ until development completion. Drawing 101 of the 28th June 2016 identifies the 
RPAs. Given the overspill of the RPAs onto the hardstanding and the contractors 
wish to retain the existing kerb edging on the western boundary, the protective 
fencing can be erected at the kerbside running parallel with the site boundary. 

6.16 Ecology – No comments received.

6.17 Environment Agency - No objection to the proposed development subject to the 
imposition of appropriate conditions. 

6.18 Having reviewed the Phase I Environmental Assessment (Desk Study) for James Hall 
& Co (Properties) Ltd prepared by Geo2 (report ref: 16/0545, dated March 2016). We 
do not agree with the recommendation in the report that only a watching brief is 
required to be undertaken by contractors during future potential redevelopment 
works. The nature of the material used to infill the clay pit is unknown and we 
therefore recommend intrusive investigations to determine the nature of the in filled 
material, investigations across the site to determine if there is any historic 
contamination and associated groundwater sampling to assess any risks to controlled 
waters. 

6.19 Intrusive investigations are also required to determine the depth of the groundwater 
across the site to ensure there is no sub-water table storage of underground fuel 
storage tanks. There must be a minimum of 1 metre unsaturated zone beneath the 
base of any underground fuel storage tanks and the highest expected natural water 
table. 

Page 14



6.20 There should be no storage of hazardous substances below the water table in 
principal or secondary aquifers. If underground fuel storage tanks are to be used on 
this site then it would need to be demonstrated that a minimum 1 metre unsaturated 
zone will occur beneath the base of any underground fuel storage tanks and the 
highest expected natural water table. Despite the above, the information submitted in 
support of this planning application provides us with confidence that it will be possible 
to suitably manage the risk posed to controlled waters by this development. Further 
detailed information will however be required before built development is undertaken. 
It is our opinion that it would place an unreasonable burden on the developer to ask 
for more detailed information prior to the granting of planning permission but respect 
that this is a decision for the Local Planning Authority. 

6.21 We consider that planning permission could be granted to the proposed development 
as submitted provided appropriate planning conditions are included. Without these 
conditions we would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 109 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the development 
will not be put at unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of water pollution 

6.22 Lancashire Archaeological Advisory Service (LAAS) - has examined the 
application the recommendations remain the same as those provided to the previous 
application for this site (07/2016/0552/FUL). An extract from our earlier response is 
included below for information:

"The building proposed for demolition is named as 'Windmill Inn' on the on the 1848 
1st Edition Ordnance Survey 1:10560 mapping (Lancashire Sheet 62, surveyed 
1844-46) and also appears on the more detailed 1:2,500 mapping of 1892. Inns were 
primarily concerned with providing accommodation for travellers. Many contained 
features such as a carriage entrance, courtyard and stabling for traveller's horses, 
which may have been visible here prior to modern extensions. The Windmill Hotel is 
sited at the junction between the 1819 Blackburn and Clitheroe Trust Branch Road 
and the 1824 Preston to Blackburn New Road, the latter forming a key route between 
Preston and Blackburn. The inn's construction is likely to have been in association 
with the building of these toll roads. The development as proposed will result in the 
total loss of historic fabric and while Lancashire Archaeological Advisory Service 
(LAAS) would not object to this development, we suggest a building record is made 
before any demolition work is carried out and a watching brief carried out during 
stripping in case any early elements are revealed." 

6.23 Consequently should the Local Planning Authority be minded to grant planning 
permission to this scheme, LAAS would recommend that a record of the building be 
made prior to demolition and an archaeological watching brief be maintained during 
stripping and that such works are secured via condition.

6.24 United Utilities - have no objection to the proposed development provided that 
appropriate conditions are attached to any approval. 

6.25 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate 
system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the 
most sustainable way.

6.26 The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when 
considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to 
consider the following drainage options in the following order of priority: 
1. into the ground (infiltration); 
2. to a surface water body; 

Page 15



3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 
4. to a combined sewer. 

6.27 Lancashire Constabulary - The Crime Impact Statement is formed based on local 
crime figures and trends, incidents reported to the police and community knowledge 
gathered from local policing teams. It is with this knowledge and policing experience 
that the recommendations made are site specific, appropriate and realistic to the 
potential threat posed from crime and anti-social behaviour in the immediate area of 
the development. 

6.28 Within the last 12 month period 10/11/2016-10/11/2017 the crimes and incidents that 
have been recorded within this policing incident location include theft where 
individuals have driven off from a petrol filling station where fuel was not paid for, 
criminal damage and burglary of business premises. The crime levels and types 
particularly driving off without paying for fuel indicate that the petrol filling station 
premises could be affected by crime. The convenience store will need to incorporate 
adequate security measures in order to design out the opportunity for crimes such as 
shoplifting and burglary. 

6.29 Secured by Design (SBD) is a national police initiative to guide and encourage those 
engaged within the specification, design and constructions of new buildings to adopt 
crime prevention measures. The advice given has been proven to reduce the 
opportunity for crime and the fear of crime, creating safer, more secure and 
sustainable environments, in line with national and local planning policy. Further 
advice can be given if required. 

6.30 In order to reduce the risk of crime affecting the staff, business, customers and 
immediate locality, should planning permission be granted several recommendations 
have been made. These should be incorporated into the design, in order to reduce 
the risk of crime affecting the future development and local community thereby 
promoting safer South Ribble communities and reducing avoidable demand on 
policing resources. As such an appropriate condition should be attached to any 
planning permission requiring the submission of an appropriate scheme that 
incorporates the above measures and reduces opportunities for crime by 
incorporating secure by design principles.   

6.31 Ribble Valley Borough Council – Raises no objection to the principle of the 
development.

7.0 MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 Planning Policy

7.1.1 The NPPF advocates a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 
14 explains that a presumption in favour of sustainable development lies at the heart 
of the framework which for decision taking means “approving proposals that accord 
with the development plan without delay” and “where the development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant policies are out of date granting planning permission unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits of when assessed against the policies in the framework taken as a whole or 
its specific policies indicate development should be restricted.”    

7.1.2 The site is allocated as B1 – Existing Built-Up Area within the South Ribble Local 
Plan 2012 – 2026. The policy states that proposals for the re-use of undeveloped and 
unused land and buildings, or for redevelopment, will be permitted provided that the 
development: a) Complies with the requirements for access, parking and services as 

Page 16



set out in the plan, b) Is in keeping with the character and appearance of the area; 
and c) Will not adversely affect the amenities of nearby residents.   

7.1.3 Policy 17 of the Core Strategy and G17 of the Local Plan relate to the design of new 
development and the Central Lancashire Design Guide SPD is also a material 
consideration. The design of the petrol filling station and associated convenience 
store are fairly utilitarian in terms of their design being more functional than 
aesthetically pleasing. The existing building does form a strong corner feature, but 
has limited architectural/historic value do to the introduction of later additions. 

7.1.4 Policy 26 of the Core Strategy relates to Crime and Community Safety. Lancashire 
Constabulary have made a number of recommendations in relation to reducing the 
risk of crime, however the proposal itself does not raise any specific issues in relation 
to crime and community safety and is therefore considered to comply with this policy.  

7.1.5 Policy G13 of the Local Plan is relevant in relation to the protection and retention of 
trees on site. A number of trees were removed from the site around the time the 
application was submitted and a revised arboriculture survey was submitted to reflect 
these changes. The Council’s Arborist is satisfied with the proposal subject to 
appropriate conditions to protect existing trees on site during construction work and a 
landscaping scheme to include additional tree planting will be conditioned.

7.1.6 Policy F1 of the Local Plan relates to car parking provision. The proposal makes 
provision for 23 on site car parking spaces including 2 disabled bays. The retail area 
has a public floor area of approximately 140 sqm which results in a requirement of 10 
spaces to the serve development. However, factoring in staff parking and the nature 
of the way petrol filling stations operate the proposed parking provision is not 
considered unreasonable and this view is shared by the Highway Authority.        

7.2 Fall-back Position

7.2.1 One of the material considerations that a Local Planning Authority should take into 
account when deciding whether to grant planning permission for a development 
proposal is what the alternative is for the site in question.  When the development is 
not welcomed or is contrary to policy, the question of what can be done with the land 
without the need for planning permission can be particularly relevant.

7.2.2 An existing planning permission, permitted development rights and the existing use of 
a site are all examples of possible fall back options that developers may ask a local 
planning authority to take into account when deciding whether or not to grant planning 
permission.  Often, especially when the local planning authority is seeking to refuse 
permission, the question arises as to whether the fall back position that is being put 
forward is a genuine fall back that qualifies as a material planning consideration.

7.2.3 The case of Zurich Assurance v North Lincolnshire Council (2012) involved a 
challenge by Zurich, the owners of much of the retail centre of Scunthorpe, to a 
decision by North Lincolnshire to grant planning permission for an out-of-town retail 
development on an existing garden centre site.  One of the grounds of Zurich's 
challenge was that the Council had wrongly taken into account the potential for a fall 
back open retail scheme.  This fall back was claimed to arise because the garden 
centre had, for many years, sold a wider range of goods than was permitted by the 
conditions imposed on its planning permission. 

7.2.4 While Zurich sought to argue that the committee should have been advised that they 
could only take a fall back into account if it were a realistic possibility, the Court 
rejected this; finding that the fall back does not have to be probable or even have a 
high chance of occurring.  Instead the Court held that, in order to be a material 

Page 17



consideration, a fall back only has to have "more than a merely theoretical prospect".  
While the likelihood of the fall back occurring may affect the weight to be attached to 
it, the Court did not feel it affected its status as a material planning consideration.

7.2.5 Fall back options occur frequently and not just in retail planning. Residential 
development proposals, for example, often involve a consideration of a fall back 
option as part of their justification for approval.  This case sets the threshold for a fall 
back option very low indeed, although it leaves open the question of how much 
weight can be attached to something that has only an outside chance of ever 
happening.  Local planning authorities need to be alive to the possibility of a fall back 
option when determining planning applications and developers will use the potential 
for a fall-back position to support their application. Clearly, in this particular case the 
fallback position is strong in terms of the former use of the site and the lack of control 
over this under the planning legislation.  

7.3 Residential Amenity

7.3.1 Having regard to this judgement it needs to be set against the current context of this 
proposal. The site has a lawful use as a Class A4 drinking establishment with 
ancillary residential accommodation. There are no restrictions in terms of opening 
hours attached to this from a planning perspective as it is a long-standing use and 
therefore theoretically the current use could operate 24 hours a day or the current 
building could be converted into a 24 hour convenience store (Class A1) or 
restaurant/cafe (Class A3) without the need for planning permission using existing 
permitted development rights. 

7.3.2 There is therefore a judgement call to be made about whether the impact of an 
uncontrolled Class A4 use is likely to cause greater nuisance/harm to resident’s 
amenities than a petrol filling station operating 17 hours a day under an appropriately 
conditioned planning permission. Clearly, both uses have different characteristics and 
as a result will have differing impacts in relation to amenity considerations, but it is 
important to be mindful of the fall-back position and the potential impacts of a worse-
case scenario when reaching a decision.  

7.3.3 Noise can be generated from many sources and these will differ between the former 
use of the site and that proposed. Both will no doubt have impacts on the amenities of 
nearby residents, however to justify resisting the proposal it needs to be 
demonstrated that the proposed use will be significantly more harmful than that of the 
public house use in a worse- case scenario. The public house had a large surface 
level car park to the rear which fronted onto both Preston New Road and Branch 
Road with residential properties facing it across the highway on both sides of the site.        

7.3.4 Concern has been expressed about petroleum and diesel fumes emanating from the 
site. However, whilst there may be an odour within the site the design of the site and 
the existing highways means that any odour emanating from the site will have 
dispersed before it reaches residential properties so will not be discernible in the 
atmosphere.     

7.3.5 Petrol Filling Stations by design are tend to be well illuminated and highly visible to 
attract the attention of passing drivers. The current building which sits on the corner 
has a significantly lower level of illuminance than associated with a Petrol Filling 
Station. The existing car park is illuminated via street lighting from Preston New Road 
and Branch Road and two low level floodlights columns with two lights on which are 
focused on lighting the car park with no light soiling outside of the site.  

7.3.6 Clearly, the proposed PFS and convenience store are will have greater levels of 
luminance than at present. However, light spillage from the site can be controlled with 

Page 18



careful design and through appropriate conditions. Any proposals for future 
advertisements will also require advertisement consent under the Town & Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 2007 and the luminance of signage 
can be controlled under this legislation. It is therefore considered that light pollution 
can be minimised through appropriate conditions.  

7.3.7 The nearest property to the development is No. 15 Branch Road which sits on the 
northern boundary of the site. The rear of the store is situated 8 metres off the 
boundary and 10.5 metres from the side of the house. Whilst tree cover has been 
removed from this area it is intended to replant trees and introduce additional 
landscaping to this area along with a new boundary fence. The distance between the 
rear elevation of the store and the side elevation of the house are compliant with 
design guidance as neither contain habitable room windows and with the introduction 
of a landscaping scheme the impact on this properties amenities are minimal.     

7.4 Design

7.4.1 The convenience store has been sited towards the rear of the site away from the 
junction of Preston New Road and Branch Road. The building is a single storey 
structure which has been designed on an angle (135 degrees) with a pitched roof. 
The building will be 6.8 metres high at the highest point of the ridge and will be 3.8 
metres high at the eaves. The store building will be constructed from red brick, with 
horizontal timber cladding on top of this at the upper level with a grey slate concrete 
tile roof. The front of the store will be fully glazed to allow views in and out. 

7.4.2 The top of canopy for the forecourt will be 5.9 metres high and will cover four petrol 
pump islands which can accommodate up to 8 vehicles at a time. No car washing 
facilities are indicated or proposed as part of this proposal. There is sufficient space 
around the boundary of the site fronting onto Preston New Road and Branch Road to 
incorporate a landscaping scheme to soften the appearance of the development.

7.5 Trees

7.5.1 A number of trees on the northern boundary of the site, which were indicated on the 
original submission as being retained were removed in early November. The trees 
were not of sufficient quality to justify a Tree Preservation Order and their removal 
before planning permission is granted means that the Local Planning Authority has no 
control over this. The matter was however immediately raised with the applicant to 
prevent trees along the western boundary being removed and a revised tree survey 
has since been submitted. Should planning permission be granted then a condition 
requiring landscaping including replacement tree planting would be attached.    

7.6 Highways

7.6.1 Access and egress into the site have been longstanding concerns in relation to the 
use of this site for a petrol filling station. The previous application was withdrawn to 
allow for in depth consultation with LCC - Highway Engineers who had expressed 
concern in relation to the initial proposal. An ongoing dialogue has continued between 
the applicant and the highway authority and agreement has now been reached where 
the highway authority no longer have object to the proposal.   

7.6.2 The demolition of the existing building which is located at the back of footpath on the 
junction of Preston New Road and Branch Road will improve visibility at the junction 
as currently the existing structure restricts visibility for vehicles entering Preston New 
Road from Branch Road as well as blocking views of vehicles waiting at the junction 
to vehicles travelling along Preston New Road in an easterly direction.     

Page 19



7.7 Marketing of site

7.7.1 A marketing report has been submitted in support of the application to demonstrate 
that the existing use of the site was no longer a viable business and that other 
alternatives have been considered. Fawley Watson Booth Chartered Surveyors were 
initially engaged by Enterprise Inns in April 2014 to look at disposal of the site and to 
look at appropriate alternative uses for it as part of marketing the site. The initial 
report concluded that appropriate alternative uses for the site might include retirement 
home, residential development, alternative retail or commercial development, or 
continued use for use similar to existing. To allow room for negotiation and to fully 
test the market a guide price of £650,000 was recommending for marketing. 

7.7.2 The public house ceased trading in the third quarter of 2014 and an instruction to 
market the property was issued in October 2014, as the existing tenants found their 
business was no longer viable.  

7.7.3 The particulars of the property were widely circulated to several national and regional 
A3 and A4 operators, various developers, care home specialists, convenience stores, 
national and local agents from the agents mailing list. The property was also 
marketed on the website and marketing boards were erected on site.

7.7.4 The marketing report states that a high frequency of enquiries from various operators 
was experienced proposing various end users. Best and final offers for the site were 
encouraged in early 2015. An unconditional offer of £599,995 for a nursery was 
pursued but aborted in February 2015 due to funding issues by the prospective 
purchaser. 

7.7.5 During this time the property continued to be offered on the market for sale. After a 
few months best and final offers were encouraged again, but this led to only one 
reliable offer around the initial estimated sale price from a purchaser in a position to 
purchase the site unconditionally. This offer was accepted with the sale completing in 
early 2016. 

7.7.6 The purchaser a local property developer, instructed FWB to continue to marketing 
the freehold interest. In March 2016 an offer was received from James Hall & Co Ltd 
(The Applicant) and a sale was agreed subject to obtaining a satisfactory planning 
permission.     

7.7.7 The site has been openly marketed over a prolonged period of time and whilst there 
has been some level of interest in the site, offers that matched the site owner’s 
valuation appear to have been few.      

7.8 Competition

7.8.1 Within the representations received many of the objections have referred to existing 
petrol filling station provision in the area and that a further petrol filling station in the 
locality is not required.  Whilst, it is acknowledged there is other existing provision in 
the locality it not the function of the Local Planning Authority or the planning system to 
regulate market forces. The regulation of competition is not a material planning 
consideration and therefore cannot be taken into account when determining this 
planning application.

8.0 CONCLUSION 

8.1 The proposal is considered to be policy compliant with the NPPF, Core Strategy and 
South Ribble Local Plan 2012 – 2026. Whilst, alternative forms of development on the 
site may have been more desirable in terms of community benefit, the existing fall-

Page 20



back position outlined above makes it extremely difficult to argue the case that the 
proposed new use of the site with controlled hours will be more disruptive to 
resident’s amenities than the existing unregulated lawful use of the site. 

8.2 Clearly, highway safety has been of considerable concern throughout the process 
and significant time and effort has been expended on developing a solution which 
satisfies the highway safety concerns of the Highways Authority. The County Council 
are now satisfied with the proposal from a highway safety point of view and no longer 
have any objections to the proposal. 

8.3 Whilst, the redevelopment of the site for a petrol filling station is not necessarily the 
most welcome development of this site in terms of community benefits, it is difficult to 
construct a reasoned planning based case to resist this proposal given the issues 
discussed in the body of the report above.    

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval with Conditions. 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

1. The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development, hereby permitted, shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted approved plans Dwg P-08 Rev F, P-09 Rev E, P-10 Rev D, P-11 Rev F.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development 

3. No work shall be commenced until satisfactory details of the colour and texture of the 
facing and roofing materials to be used have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
REASON: To ensure the satisfactory detailed appearance of the development in 
accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G17 in 
the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

4. The development hereby approved, shall not be open to customers outside the hours 
of 0600 hrs to 2300 hrs daily, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of nearby residential properties in 
accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and G17 of the 
South Ribble Local Plan 2012 - 2026.

5. For the full period of demolition/construction, facilities shall be available on site for the 
cleaning of the wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be used 
as necessary to prevent mud and stones being carried onto the highway. The roads 
adjacent to the site shall be mechanically swept as required during the full 
construction period. 
REASON: To prevent stones and mud being carried onto the public highway to the 
detriment of road safety.

6. Prior to the commencement of development a Traffic Management Plan (TMA) shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in 

Page 21



conjunction with the highway authority). The TMA shall include and specify the 
provisions to be made for the following:-
 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
 Loading and unloading of plant and materials used in the demolition / construction 

of the development;
 Storage of such plant and materials;
 Wheel washing facilities;
 Periods when plant and materials trips should not be made to and from the site 

(mainly peak hours but the developer to identify times when trips of this nature 
should not be made)

 Routes to be used by vehicles carrying plant and materials to and from the site;
 Measures to ensure that construction and delivery vehicles do not impede access 

to adjoining properties.
REASON: To protect existing road users and to maintain the operation and safety of 
the local highway network and to minimise the impact of the construction works on 
the local highway network.

7. The existing access on Branch Road shall be physically and permanently closed and 
the existing footway and kerbing of the vehicular crossing shall be reinstated in 
accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of 
Estate Roads (concurrent with the formation of the new access). 
REASON: To limit the number of access points and to maintain the proper 
construction of the highway.

8. No part of the development (excluding demolition) hereby approved shall commence 
until a scheme for the construction of the site accesses and the off-site works of 
highway improvement (including right turn facility on Preston New Road, Pavement 
widening to 2m, Amendments to 7.5t weight limit / traffic calming scheme) has been 
submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority as part of a section 278 agreement, under the Highways Act 1980. 
REASON: In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that 
the final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to enable all construction traffic to enter and leave the 
premises in a safe manner without causing a hazard to other road users.

9. No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied or opened for trading 
until the approved scheme referred to in Condition 8 has been constructed and 
completed in accordance with the approved scheme details, without prior agreement 
from the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: In order that the traffic generated by the new development does not 
exacerbate unsatisfactory highway conditions in advance of the first occupancy or 
trading.

10. The car parking and manoeuvring areas to be marked out in accordance with the 
approved plan, before the use of the premises hereby permitted becomes operative 
and permanently maintained thereafter. 
REASON: To allow for the effective use of the parking and manoeuvring areas.

11. Prior to the first use of the development 10% of parking bays shall be provided with a 
rapid (30 mins) electric vehicle recharge point to the parking area. The parking bay 
shall be appropriately marked to ensure the sole use by electric vehicles and an 
adequate charging infrastructure with associated cabling provided for the designated 
parking bay. The charging point shall be located so that a 3m cable will readily reach 
the vehicle to be charged when parked in the designated parking bay. 
REASON: To enable and encourage the use of alternative fuel use for transport 
purposes in accordance with Policy 3 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy.

Page 22



12. There shall be no deliveries received by the site between 22:00-07:00 Monday to 
Saturday and no deliveries between 20:00-10:00 on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the nearby residents in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and the NPPF. 

13. There shall be no waste collection from the site between the hours of 22:00-07:00 
Monday to Saturday and no waste collection on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the nearby residents in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and the NPPF. 

14. Prior to the commencement of any works on site a Dust Management Plan shall be 
submitted, for written approval, to the local planning authority. The Dust Management 
Plan shall identify all areas of the site and site operations where dust may be 
generated and further identify control measures to ensure dust and soil does not 
travel beyond the site boundary. The Dust Management Plan shall consist of a 
suitable risk assessment in line with national guidance. 
Once agreed the identified control measures shall be implemented and maintained 
throughout the duration of the site preparation and construction phase of the 
development. 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the nearby residents in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and the NPPF. 

15. During the site preparation and construction of the development no machinery, plant 
or powered tools shall be operated outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Monday to 
Friday 09:00 - 13:00 on Saturdays. No construction shall take place at any time on 
Sundays or nationally recognised Bank Holidays. 
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and the NPPF. 

16. Once works commence on the site, should site operatives discover any adverse 
ground conditions and suspect it to be contaminated, they should report this to the 
Site Manager and the Contaminated Land Officer at South Ribble Borough Council. 
Works in that location should cease and the problem area roped off. A Competent 
Person shall be employed to undertake sampling and analysis of the suspected 
contaminated materials. A report which contains details of sampling methodologies 
and analysis results, together with remedial methodologies shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. The approved remediation scheme 
shall be implemented prior to further development works taking place and prior to 
occupation of the development. 
Should no adverse ground conditions be encountered during site works and/or 
development, a verification statement shall be forwarded in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to occupation of the building/s, which confirms that no 
adverse ground conditions were found. 
REASON: To ensure that the site is suitable for its intended end use and 
development work will not cause pollution of ground and surface waters both on and 
off site, in accordance with Policies 17 and 29 of the Central Lancashire Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

17. There shall be no burning of waste material or vegetation on site. 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity and to safe guard the living conditions of the 
nearby residents in accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core 
Strategy and the NPPF. 

18. No development approved by this planning permission (or such other date or stage in 
development as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), shall 
take place until a scheme that includes the following components to deal with the 
risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and 

Page 23



approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 1) A preliminary risk assessment 
which has identified: o all previous uses o potential contaminants associated with 
those uses o a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 
receptors o potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 2) A 
site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
3) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details 
of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 4) A 
verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these 
components require the express written consent of the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying aquifer.

19. The development shall not be occupied, until a verification report demonstrating 
completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the 
local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring 
carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the 
site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any plan (a "long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan") for End 3 longer-term monitoring of pollutant 
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the 
verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented as approved. 
REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying aquifer. 

20. The development (excluding demolition) hereby permitted shall not be commenced 
until such time as a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface waters and the 
installation of oil and petrol separators has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment and ensure no contaminated 
water from oil spills, fuel forecourts or goods vehicles is discharged to surface water 
or groundwater

21. The development (excluding demolition) hereby permitted shall not be commenced 
until such time as a scheme to install underground tanks has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall include the full 
structural details of the installation, including details of excavation, the tanks, tank 
surround, associated pipe work and monitoring system. The scheme shall be fully 
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the scheme, or any 
changes as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 
REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying aquifer. 

22. The acoustic detailed within the submitted Noise Assessment, report number 101423, 
shall be fully implemented prior to first use of the site and shall be retained and 
maintained thereafter. 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the nearby residents in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and the NPPF. 

23. No development, including site clearance, shall commence until the developer has 
secured the implementation of a programme of building recording and analysis.  This 
must be undertaken in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which shall 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  

Page 24



The final report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling.
REASON:  To ensure and safeguard the recording and inspection of matters of 
archaeological and/or historical importance associated with the building/site in 
accordance with Policy 16 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy

24. Prior to the commencement of development (excluding demolition), a surface water 
drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards. In the event of surface water draining to 
the combined public sewer, the pass forward flow rate to the public sewer must be 
restricted to 8.3 l/s.
REASON: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies 
within the NPPF and NPPG. 

25. The development (excluding demolition) hereby permitted shall not be commenced 
until a scheme showing the provisions to be made for CCTV coverage, access 
control, and any other measures to reduce the risk of crime, have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not 
be occupied until the approved scheme has been implemented. Thereafter the 
approved measures shall be permanently retained unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: In order to provide a good standard of security to future occupants and 
visitors to the site and to reduce the risk of crime in accordance with Policy 17 and 26 
of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Central Lancashire Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted October 2012).

26. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Plan shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The Plan shall provide for:
 the proposed times construction works will take place
 the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
 loading and unloading of plant and materials 
 storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
 the location of the site compound
 suitable wheel washing/road sweeping measures
 appropriate measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 
 appropriate measures to control the emission of noise during construction
 details of all external lighting to be used during the construction
 a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works 
REASON:  To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance 
Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G17 in the South Ribble 
Local Plan 2012-2026

27. The development (excluding demolition) shall not begin until a scheme detailing the 
boundary treatments for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The occupation of buildings or the commencement of the 
use shall not occur until the fencing/walling has been erected in accordance with the 
approved details.  Any fencing/walling erected pursuant to this condition shall be 
retained at all times thereafter.

Page 25



REASON: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate screening in the interest 
of amenity in accordance with Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and 
Policy G17 in the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

28. Litter receptacles shall be provided for the use of patrons of the development hereby 
approved and shall be retained at all times thereafter. 
REASON: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the disposal of litter and 
to comply with Policy 27 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G17 in 
the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

29. No development (excluding demolition) shall commence until details of the 
landscaping of the site including, wherever possible, the retention of existing trees 
and hedges have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved scheme shall be implemented in the first planting season 
following completion of the development, or first occupation/use, whichever is the 
soonest.
The approved scheme shall be maintained by the applicant or their successors in title 
thereafter for a period of 5 years to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  
This maintenance shall include the replacement of any tree or shrub which is 
removed, becomes seriously damaged, seriously diseased or dies, by the same 
species or different species, and shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The replacement tree or shrub must be of similar size to that originally 
planted.
Details submitted shall be compliant with 'BS 5837 2012 - Trees in Relation to 
Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations' and shall include details of 
trees and hedges to be retained or removed, root protection zones, barrier fencing, 
and a method statement for all works in proximity to those trees or hedges to be 
retained during the development and construction period. Details shall also indicate 
the types and numbers of trees and shrubs, their distribution on site, those areas 
seeded, turfed, paved or hard landscaped, including details of any changes of level or 
landform and the types and details of all fencing and screening.
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 17 in 
the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G8 in the South Ribble Local Plan 
2012-2026

30. Prior to the commencement (excluding demolition) of the approved scheme details of 
all external lighting shall be submitted for written approval to the local planning 
authority. The approved scheme shall then be installed, maintained and retained as 
approved. Any changes to the agreed scheme shall first be agreed with the local 
planning authority and no other external lighting shall be used thereafter. The 
submitted scheme shall include: 
 the location and height of the lighting columns;
 the details of the light fittings;
 the colour of the lights;
 the lux levels; 
 horizontal glare at the nearby sensitive receptors, both ground and first floor as 

appropriate. 
 the over spill contour plot of the designed scheme
 impact on adjacent sites:
 the upward light ratio;
 details of current lighting levels in the area (environmental zone; and
 the details of louvers on the light fittings.
The lighting shall be erected, directed and shielded so as to avoid nuisance to 
residential accommodation in close proximity.  No other lighting equipment may then 
be used within the development other than that approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The agreed measures shall be installed prior to occupation of the 

Page 26



development and shall be thereafter retained and maintained for the duration of the 
approved use.
REASON: To safeguard the amenity and character of the area and to safeguard the 
living conditions of nearby residents and to accord with Policy 17 in the Central 
Lancashire Core Strategy and NPPF.

31. Before any site activity (construction or demolition) is commenced in association with 
the development, barrier fencing shall be erected around all trees to be retained on 
the site as detailed in the Tree Protection Plan which has been agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority. The fencing shall be constructed and located in compliance with 
BS 5837 2012 - Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - 
Recommendations.  Within these fenced areas no development, vehicle 
manoeuvring, storage of materials or plant, removal or addition of soil may take 
place. This includes ground disturbance for utilities. The fencing shall not be moved in 
part or wholly without the written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. The 
fencing shall remain in place until completion of all development works and removal 
of site vehicles, machinery, and materials in connection with the development. 

REASON: To prevent damage to trees during construction works in accordance with 
Policy G13 in the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

32. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until details of 
facilities for the storage of refuse and waste materials have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and completed entirely in accordance with 
the approved scheme.  The approved facility shall be retained thereafter unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To safeguard the character and visual appearance of the area and to 
safeguard the living conditions of any nearby residents particularly with regard to 
odours and/or disturbance in accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire 
Core Strategy and Policy G17 in the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

 

RELEVANT POLICY

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

17 Design of New Buildings (Core Strategy Policy)

26 Crime and Community Safety (Core Strategy Policy)

POLB1 Existing Built-Up Areas

POLG13 Trees, Woodlands and Development

POLG17 Design Criteria for New Development

POLF1 Car Parking

SPD5 Design Guide (Supplementary Planning Documents)

Note:  

1. The programme of archaeological works should comprise the following: i) The 
creation of a record of the building to Historic England level 3; and ii) A formal watching brief 
during the stripping out phase. This work should be carried out by an appropriately qualified 

Page 27



and experienced professional archaeological contractor to the standards and guidance set 
out in Understanding Historic Buildings (Historic England 2016) and to the standards and 
guidance set out by the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists.

Lists of suitable contractors are available on the following websites:
Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIFA) http://www.archaeologists.net/
British Archaeological Jobs and Resources (BAJR) http://www.bajr.org/

This is in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 141: "Local 
planning authorities should … require developers to record and advance understanding of 
the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate 
to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence (and any archive generated) 
publicly accessible".

2. During the construction phase of the development any contaminated water must not 
be allowed to be discharged to surface waters or groundwater. If infiltration methods are to 
be used for surface water disposal the design of the surface water disposal system will need 
to incorporate sufficient treatment stages prior to discharge to the environment in line with 
CIRIA document C753. 
The Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 make it an offence to cause or knowingly 
permit a groundwater activity unless authorised by an Environmental Permit which we will 
issue. A groundwater activity includes any discharge that will result in the input of pollutants 
to groundwater.

3. United Utilities Note: Not all public sewers are shown on the statutory utility records. 
The applicant should be made aware that the proposed development may fall within the 
required access strip of a public sewer and make contact with a Building Control body at an 
early stage. South Ribble Building Control can be contacted on 01772 625420

4. The applicant should ensure that the existing foul drainage system is in a good state 
of repair, regularly desludged and of sufficient capacity to deal with any potential increase in 
flow and loading which may occur as a result of this proposal.

5. As a precaution, it is advised that once works commence on the site, should site 
operatives discover any adverse ground conditions and suspect it to be contaminated, they 
should report this to the Site Manager.  Works in that location should cease and the problem 
area roped off until representative samples are sent for analysis and the results assessed by 
the Council which will then advise on the appropriate action.

6. The applicant is advised that the new access, will need to be constructed under an 
appropriate legal agreement. The Highway Authority hereby reserves the right to provide the 
highway works within the highway associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway 
works includes design, procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. 
The applicant is advised to contact Lancashire County Council before works begin on site. 
Further information and advice can be found at www.lancashire.gov.uk

Page 28



Application Number 07/2017/3413/REM

Address Expac (preston) Ltd
Dunkirk Mill
Dunkirk Lane
Moss Side
Leyland
PR26 7SQ

Applicant MCI Developments Limited, Adactus Housing 
Group and Neil Kay 

Agent
William Fulster
15 Beecham Court
Wigan
WN3 6PR

Development Reserved Matters application for the erection of 34 
affordable dwellings (Appearance, Landscaping, Layout 
and scale applied for)

Officer Recommendation

Officer Name

That the Members be minded to approve the 
application and that the decision be delegated to the 
Planning Manager in consultation with the Chair and 
Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee upon the 
successful completion of a Deed of Variation to the 
Section 106 Agreement on the associated outline 
planning permission (07/2012/0551/REN) to secure a 
provision of 100% affordable housing on-site and to 
amend the tenure to affordable rent accommodation.

Mr Chris Sowerby

Date application valid 16.11.2017
Target Determination Date 15.02.2018
Extension of Time N/A

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



1. REPORT SUMMARY
1.1 The proposal is a Reserved Matters application for the erection of 34 affordable dwellings 
on the site, with the matters of ‘Appearance’, ‘Landscaping’, ‘Layout’ and ‘Scale’, being 
applied for.  The principle of a residential development on the site, together with the matter of 
‘Access’ from Dunkirk Lane, has previously been established by the extant outline planning 
permission (07/2012/0551/REN).

1.2 The application relates to a 0.67 hectare site formally occupied by Dunkirk Mill.  The site 
is currently vacant and has been largely cleared of built structures, having previously been 
used for warehousing and distribution purposes by Expac.  

1.3 The site is bounded to the north by Dunkirk Lane and beyond by residential properties.  
To the north-east is the Dunkirk Hall Public House, which is a Grade II Listed Building, 
together with its associated car park.  To the south is a paddock and to the east is Schleswig 
Way and the River Lostock.  To the west are residential detached and semi-detached 
dwellings on Bretherton Close and a row of terraced houses fronting onto Dunkirk Lane.  The 
site is accessed directly off Dunkirk Lane close to the signalised junction with Schleswig 
Way.

1.4 The site is allocated as an ‘Allocation of Housing Land’ (‘Site G’) under Policy D1 of the 
South Ribble Local Plan (2012-2026).

1.5 The proposed mixture of housetypes and designs on the site is not considered to be out 
of character with the surrounding area.  The proposed site layout provides 273sq metres of 
public open space which exceeds the 120sq metres of public open space on site required 
through the associated planning consent.

1.6 These proposed inter-relationships are considered to be acceptable and are not 
considered to result in undue overlooking / loss of privacy or overdominance / 
overshadowing.

1.7 County Highways have raised no objections to the proposed development.

1.8 The proposed residential development is deemed to be in accordance with Policies 1, 3, 
4, 5, 6 and 17 of the Core Strategy and Policies D1, G10 and G17 of the South Ribble Local 
Plan 2012-2026.  For these reasons, and those contained within the report, it is 
recommended that the application be approved subject to the successful completion of a 
Deed of Variation to the Section 106 Agreement on the associated outline planning 
permission to confirm an increase to 100% on-site affordable housing provision and 
affordable rent tenure of the units.

1.9 The outline permission included conditions relating to highway works, levels, drainage, 
noise, hours of construction, construction methodology, contaminated land, vehicular linkage 
and phasing which do not need to be re-imposed as part of the Reserved Matters approval.

2. APPLICATION SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA
2.1 The application relates to a 0.67 hectare site formally occupied by Dunkirk Mill.  The site 
is currently vacant and has been largely cleared of built structures, having previously been 
used for warehousing and distribution purposes by Expac.  The site is located in a largely 
residential area of Leyland.

2.2 The site is bounded to the north by Dunkirk Lane and beyond by residential properties.  
To the north-east is the Dunkirk Hall Public House, which is a Grade II Listed Building, 
together with its associated car park.  To the south is a paddock and to the east is Schleswig 
Way and the River Lostock.  To the west are residential detached and semi-detached 
dwellings on Bretherton Close and a row of terraced houses fronting onto Dunkirk Lane.  The 

Page 30



site is accessed directly off Dunkirk Lane close to the signalised junction with Schleswig 
Way.

2.3 The site is allocated as an ‘Allocation of Housing Land’ (‘Site G’) under Policy D1 of the 
South Ribble Local Plan (2012-2026).

3. SITE HISTORY
3.1 In March 2015 an application for the renewal of outline planning permission 
(07/2012/0551/REN) was granted for the erection of up to 35 dwellings and the creation of a 
new access onto Dunkirk Lane (with only the matter of Access applied for) following the 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the provision of on-site affordable housing 
and Public Open Space.

4. PROPOSAL
4.1 The proposal is a Reserved Matters application for the erection of 34 affordable dwellings 
on the site, with the matters of ‘Appearance’, ‘Landscaping’, ‘Layout’ and ‘Scale’, being 
applied for.

4.2 The proposal comprises of 4 one-bed Maisonettes, 19 two-bed properties and 11 three-
bed properties.  A range of semi-detached and terraced housetypes are proposed on the 
site.

4.3 Three areas of amenity open space are proposed within the development which are to be 
landscaped to visually improve the development.

4.4 Whilst the associated outline planning consent requires a minimum of 10% intermediate 
affordable housing units the applicant is working in association with the Adactus Housing 
Group to provide 100% affordable housing on site in the form of affordable rented 
accommodation.  This is explained further in the ‘Affordable Housing and Variation of S106 
Agreement’ section of this report.

4.5 Amended plans have been provided by the applicant in response to comments made by 
County Highways in relation to the design of the proposed estate road.

5. REPRESENTATIONS
1 letter of objection has been received in relation to the proposed development.  A summary 
of the points raised follows:

Relationship To Neighbours
 Overlooking / loss of privacy
 Overshadowing / overdominance

Other Issues
 Restrictive covenants
 Boundary improvements sought

6. CONSULTATION REPLIES

County Highways identified required improvements to the design of the proposed estate 
road which have since been incorporated into amended plans.  It was also identified that 21 
of the proposed dwellings fall short of the recommended individual parking provision, 
however County Highways have confirmed that they do not raise objection to this under-
provision due to the development being wholly for affordable housing and the sustainable 
location of the site.  Even so, the applicant has increased the number of visitor car parking 
spaces to 5 on amended plans to reduce the potential for on-street parking.

Page 31



Environmental Health have raised no objections to the proposal subject to the imposition of 
conditions relating to the control of dust, wheel washing facilities for construction traffic, 
lighting/noise during construction, hours of construction, control of invasive species, 
contaminated land, the provision of electric vehicle recharge points and the submission of an 
acoustic survey.  As a number of this are already attached to the associated outline planning 
consent, only the conditions relating to the provision of electric vehicle recharge points and 
the submission of an acoustic survey are required to be imposed on any Reserved Matters 
approval.  

An invasive species report has been submitted to the satisfaction of Environmental Health 
negating the need for a condition to be imposed.

A recommended condition relating restrictions on the burning of waste would be subject to 
the control of Environmental Health legislation and therefore it is not reasonable to include as 
a planning condition.

The Local Authority’s Strategic Housing Officer comments that the development of 34 
affordable dwellings will support an identified need for affordable rent units and that there are 
currently 491 applicants on the Council’s housing waiting list (Select Move) that have 
selected Leyland as their first choice location. 

United Utilities have raised no objections to the proposal recommending conditions relating 
to the submission of foul and surface drainage details and the submission of a sustainable 
drainage management and maintenance plan.

The Architectural Liaison Officer (Lancashire Constabulary) has raised no objections to 
the proposal in principle, highlighting a number of potential crime prevention measures which 
have been forwarded on to the applicant for consideration.  

7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 The principle of a residential development on the site, together with the matter of ‘Access’ 
from Dunkirk Lane, has previously been established by the extant outline planning 
permission (07/2012/0551/REN).

Policy Considerations

7.2 i)  NPPF
7.2.1 The NPPF promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development and supports 
sustainable economic development to deliver, amongst other things, homes.  

7.3 ii) Core Strategy Policy Considerations
7.3.1 Policy 1 of the Core Strategy is entitled ‘Locating Growth’ and encourages the 
focussing of growth and investment in the Key Service Centres of Chorley and Leyland and 
the other main urban areas in South Ribble.

7.3.2 Policy 4: Housing Delivery seeks to ensure that sufficient housing land is identified over 
the 2010-2026 period.

7.3.3 Policy 5 of the Core Strategy covers Housing Density and states:

“The authorities will secure densities of development which are in keeping with local areas 
and which will have no detrimental impact on the amenity, character, appearance, 
distinctiveness and environmental quality of an area, consideration will also be given to 
making efficient use of land.”

7.3.4 Policy 6 of the Core Strategy covers Housing Quality and aims at improving the quality 
of housing.  This is assessed in the following sections of the report.

Page 32



7.3.5 Policy 7 of the Core Strategy relates to Affordable Housing and confirms a target of 
30% affordable housing for housing developments of 15 dwellings or more.

7.3.6 Policy 17: Design of New Buildings expects the design and new buildings to take 
account of the character and appearance of the local area and effectively mirrors criterion in 
the South Ribble Local Plan (2012-2026) Policy G17. 

7.4 iii) Affordable Housing and Variation of S106 Agreement
7.4.1 Policy 7 of the Core Strategy is entitled Affordable Housing and states that a target of 
30% affordable housing provision is to be sought on new housing schemes.  The associated 
outline planning consent agreed a minimum of 10% affordable housing in the form of 
intermediate units.  The applicant is however working in association with the Adactus 
Housing Group to provide 100% affordable housing on site in the form of affordable rented 
accommodation.  The proposal therefore meets the requirements of Policy 7 but a variation 
of the S106 Agreement associated with the outline planning consent is required to reflect the 
change from intermediate affordable housing units to affordable rent units.  This change, 
which reflects situation regarding the provision of affordable housing units and is required in 
order to secure the necessary grant to fund the development, is fully supported by the 
Council’s Strategic Housing Officer. 

7.5 iv) Open Space
7.5.1 The proposed site layout provides 273sq metres of public open space on site which 
exceeds the 120sq metres of public open space on site required through the associated 
planning consent.  The three areas of public open space on site are to be landscaped and 
would be provide a visual amenity for future residents as well as a pleasant entrance to the 
site from Dunkirk Lane.

7.6 CIL
7.6.1 As the proposed residential development is wholly for affordable housing the 
development is exempt from the Community Infrastructure Levy.

7.7 Character and Design
7.7.1 Policy 17 of the Core Strategy expects new buildings to “take account of the character 
and appearance of the local area” with Policy G17 of the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026 
requiring development not have a detrimental impact on “the existing building, neighbouring 
buildings or on the street scene by virtue of its design, height, scale, orientation, plot density, 
massing, proximity, use of materials”.  In consideration of the above, the local distinctiveness 
and character of the local area have been assessed.  The surrounding residential 
development comprises of properties of varying sizes, designs and ages. Consequently, the 
proposed mixture of housetypes and designs on the site is not considered to be out of 
character with the surrounding area.  

7.7.2 Sufficient garden spaces are proposed for the dwellings.  The proposed development is 
not considered to result the overdevelopment of the site.

7.7.3 For the above reasons the proposed development is considered to comply with Core 
Strategy Policy 17 and Policy G17 of the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026.

7.8 Relationship To Neighbours
7.8.1 A minimum distance of 22m would be present from the front elevation of Plot 1 to the 
front elevation of 112 Dunkirk Lane.  A minimum distance of 21m would be present from the 
front elevation of Plot 3 to the blank side gable of 109 Dunkirk Lane.  A minimum distance of 
16m would be present from the blank side gable on Plot 26 to the rear elevation of 10 
Bretherton Close.  These proposed inter-relationships are considered to be acceptable and 
are not considered to result in undue overlooking / loss of privacy or overdominance / 
overshadowing.

Page 33



7.8.2 Minimum distances of 9m and 13m respectively would be present from the rear 
elevations of 8 and 9 Bretherton Close to the front elevation on Plot 27.  Whilst these 
distances fall short of the minimum standard separation distances that the Council normally 
applies, in this case the relationship with the Plot 27 is not direct and the acuteness of this 
angled relationship is considered sufficient to prevent the proposed development from having 
an undue overlooking / loss of privacy or overdominance / overshadowing.  Historically, the 
rear elevations of 8 and 9 Bretherton Close used to directly face a single storey building used 
for packaging uptight against the party boundary.  The proposed layout, with no built 
development directly opposing the rear elevations of 8 and 9 Bretherton Close will not result 
in the overshadowing / overdominance historically experienced in their rear gardens.

7.9 Highway Issues
7.9.1 The access on to Dunkirk Lane to serve the residential development has been 
established as part of the associated outline planning consent.

7.9.2 Amendments have been made to the internal site layout following recommendation 
made by County Highways.  Consequently the proposed internal layout has now been 
designed to adoptable standards.

7.9.3 Whilst it has been identified by County Highways that 21 of the proposed dwellings fall 
short of the recommended individual parking provision, no objections have been raised by 
County Highways to this under-provision due to the development being wholly for affordable 
housing and the sustainable location of the site.  The applicant has also decided to increase 
the number of visitor car parking spaces to 5 on amended plans to reduce the potential for 
on-street parking.

7.10 Tree Issues / Wildlife
7.10.1 The site is formed entirely of hardstanding and is devoid of trees or vegetation.  A row 
of trees is present along the eastern boundary of the site close to Schleswig Way however 
no built development is proposed in this section of the site due to a an existing drain 
easement being present.

7.10.2 An ecology report submitted with the associated outline consents included 
recommendations for measure to maximise opportunities for wildlife on the site.  In response 
to this the applicant is proposing to landscape the on-site areas of public open space in line 
with the recommendations of the ecology report.  There is no evidence of any protected 
species within the vicinity of the site.

7.11 Impact on Listed Building 
7.11.1 Beyond the eastern boundary of the application site is the car park and servicing area 
associated with the Dunkirk Hall public house (a Grade II Listed Building).  The proposed 
development, which makes good use of a vacant and visually unattractive site, would 
preserve the character and appearance of the Listed Building.

7.12 Other Issues
7.12.1 A neighbour has highlighted the potential for boundary improvements where the site 
abuts existing residential development.  The application proposes the installation of a 1.8m 
high feathered edge timber fence along party boundaries with existing residential 
development.  Such boundary treatments are common place where new residential 
developments abut existing residential properties and there is not considered to be any site 
specific circumstances to reasonably request for the proposed boundary treatments to be 
upgraded.

7.12.2 A neighbour has raised issues surrounding the potential implications of restrictive 
covenants.  Any such covenants are not subject to the control of Planning and would be a 
private legal matter between the involved parties.

Page 34



8. CONCLUSION
8.1 The proposed residential development comprising of 34 affordable dwellings is 
considered to be acceptable on the 0.67 hectare site.  The proposed development is not 
considered to result in the overdevelopment of the site and is not considered to be out of 
character with the streetscene.  The proposed development is not considered to have an 
undue impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties or an adjacent Listed Building and 
there are no significant highway safety or amenity implications.  

8.2 The outline permission included conditions relating to highway works, levels, drainage, 
noise, hours of construction, construction methodology, contaminated land, vehicular linkage 
and phasing which do not need to be re-imposed as part of the Reserved Matters approval.

8.3 The proposed residential development is deemed to be in accordance with Policies 1, 3, 
4, 5, 6 and 17 of the Core Strategy and Policies D1, G10 and G17 of the South Ribble Local 
Plan 2012-2026.  For these reasons, and those contained within the report, it is 
recommended that the application be approved subject to the successful completion of a 
Deed of Variation to the Section 106 Agreement on the associated outline planning 
permission to confirm an increase to 100% on-site affordable housing provision and 
affordable rent tenure of the units.

9. RECOMMENDATION:

That the Members be minded to approve the application and that the decision be delegated 
to the Planning Manager in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning 
Committee upon the successful completion of a Deed of Variation to the Section 106 
Agreement on the associated outline planning permission (07/2012/0551/REN) to secure a 
provision of 100% affordable housing on-site and to amend the tenure to affordable rent 
accommodation.

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

1. The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of 3 
years from the date of the outline permission, or before the expiration of 2 years from 
the date of the permission herein.

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990

2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved materials 
schedule detailed on the approved Drawing ref. 'Dunkirk Lane / Materials Distribution 
Rev. C' unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure the satisfactory detailed appearance of the development in 
accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G17 in 
the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026.

3. No property shall be occupied, or be brought into use, until their respective car 
parking spaces have been surfaced or paved in accordance with a scheme to be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the car parking spaces and 
manoeuvring areas marked out in accordance with the approved plan. 

REASON: To allow for the effective use of the parking areas, in accordance with 
Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy F1 of the South Ribble 
Local Plan 2012-2026.

Page 35



4. Prior to the occupation of each phase of development, a scheme and programme for 
the laying out, landscaping, maintenance and retention of any area of public amenity 
land within that phase, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
in writing.  The development shall proceed in accordance with the agreed scheme 
within a timeframe to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 17 
of the Core Strategy and Policy G17 of the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026.

5. The approved landscaping scheme, as detailed on Drawing no. '5090.01 Rev A' shall 
be implemented in the first planting season following completion of the development 
or first occupation/use, whichever is the soonest, and shall be maintained thereafter 
for a period of not less than 5 years to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority, 
in compliance with BS 5837 2012 - Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction - Recommendations.  This maintenance shall include the watering, 
weeding, mulching and adjustment and removal of stakes and support systems, and 
shall include the replacement of any tree or shrub which is removed, becomes 
seriously damaged, seriously diseased or dies by the same species. The replacement 
tree or shrub must be of similar size to that originally planted.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 17 in 
the Central Lancashire Core Strategy, Policy G13 and Policy G17 in the South Ribble 
Local Plan 2012-2026

6. Prior to the commencement of any works on site an assessment for the presence of 
invasive plants, as identified under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, shall be 
undertaken and the results submitted to the local planning authority for approval 
along with a detailed methodology for the removal of any identified invasive plants.

REASON:  The spread of invasive plants is prohibited under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Without measures to prevent spread as a result of the 
development there would be the risk of an offence being committed and avoidable 
harm to the environment recurs

7. Prior to the commencement of the construction of Plot 1-18 an acoustic survey shall 
be undertaken covering the impact of road traffic noise and noise from the public 
house, Dunkirk Hall, upon those plots.  Details of the findings of the survey and any 
mitigation measures identified shall be submitted for approval to the local planning 
authority. Once approved the mitigation measures shall be carried out as approved 
prior to the first occupation of each plot or as agreed otherwise with the local planning 
authority. The approved mitigation measures shall be retained and maintained 
thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearby residents in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and NPPF.

8. An electric recharge point shall be provided to each property, as detailed on the 
submitted drawing ref 'Dunkirk Lane / Car Charging Plan',  prior to occupation. A 
switch shall be provided internally to allow the power to be turned off by the residents.

Reason: To enable and encourage the use of alternative fuel use for transport 
purposes in accordance with Policy 3 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy.

9. The development, hereby permitted, shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted approved plans Dwgs no. 'Dunkirk Lane / Site Location Plan', 'Dunkirk 
Lane / 3B5P Aspect House Type', 'Dunkirk Lane / 3B5P House Type', 'Dunkirk Lane / 

Page 36



3B4P Aspect House Type', 'Dunkirk Lane / 2B4P House Type', 'Dunkirk Lane / 2B4P 
House Type', 'Dunkirk Lane / 1B2P Mais', 'Dunkirk Lane / Open Space Plan A', 
'Dunkirk Lane / Boundary Treatments D', 'Dunkirk Lane / Proposed Site Layout J' and  
5090.01 A (Landscape Proposal).

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with 
Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G17 in the South Ribble 
Local Plan 2012-2026.

 

RELEVANT POLICY

1 Locating Growth (Core Strategy Policy)

3 Travel  (Core Strategy Policy)

4 Housing Delivery  (Core Strategy Policy)

5 Housing Density  (Core Strategy Policy)

6 Housing Quality  (Core Strategy Policy)

17 Design of New Buildings  (Core Strategy Policy)

POLD1 Allocations of housing land

POLG10 Green Infrastructure Provision in Residential Developments

POLG17 Design Criteria for New Development

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

Note:  

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Application Number 07/2017/3818/FUL

Address Land At Club Street
Club Street
Bamber Bridge
PR5 6FN

Applicant Back Care Solutions Ltd.

Agent           Mrs Louise Leyland
2 Lockside Office Park
Lockside Road
Preston
PR2 2YS

Development Erection of 2 No. industrial units together with 
associated car parking

Officer Recommendation
Officer Name

Approval with Conditions 
Mrs Debbie Roberts

Date application valid      13.12.2017
Target Determination Date      14.03.2018
Extension of Time      None

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



2

1. Report Summary

1.1. The application seeks planning permission for erection of a large commercial building 
(2 units within one structure) to the northern edge of an empty site on Club Street, Bamber 
Bridge. In line with adjacent buildings this would sit within the B1, B2 and B8 use classes. 
The applicant wishes to relocate his established business from Leyland to purpose built 
premises.

1.2. Units would be of typical industrial design, and access and egress onto Club Street 
would be from the southern boundary; the proposed car park identifies 29 parking spaces 
(including 2 disability and 2 vehicle charging spaces).

1.3. Representation has not been made, and comments raised by statutory consultees 
have been dealt with either by amendment to the scheme or by recommended condition. The 
proposal is considered appropriate in its surroundings, should impact little upon neighbouring 
residents and will upgrade a very untidy site to the visual betterment of the area.

1.4. Proposed development is therefore deemed to be in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Core Strategy and Local Plan Policies as detailed within this 
report and the Central Lancashire Employment Premises and Employment Skills SPD’s, and 
is recommended for approval subject to imposition of conditions.
 
2. Application Site and Surrounding Area

2.1. The application site is a relatively unsightly, rectangular piece of land located at the 
centre of the Club Street Employment Area, Bamber Bridge, as designated by Policy E2 
(Protection of Employment Areas) of the South Ribble Local Plan.

2.2. The site has for many years been used for plant and machinery storage, is secured on 
all sides by metal fencing and is predominantly hardstanding. Until recently a large building 
stood to the southern end of the site, but this has since been removed.

2.3. Abutting the whole western side of the site is a scaffolding storage business, beyond 
which are the rear gardens of 343-353 (odds) Station Road. In the north is a terrace of 3 
industrial units with deep car park area - the Cuerden Church and former Wesley Street Mill 
sites sit to the rear of these, and to the east and south are industrial and commercial units in 
a range of sizes and use.

2.4. Access to the site is from the southern side; the former northern access having recently 
been closed up.

2.5. There are no ecological designations or landscaping on the site, which also sits with 
Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding).Bamber Bridge District Centre lies 250m to the 
north.

3. Site Context / Planning History 

3.1. There are 6 applications on the history of this site. All are dated from 1975-1985 and 
refer to the former plant and machinery storage use of the site. None are relevant to this 
proposal.

Page 40



3

4. Proposal

4.1. The application seeks planning permission for erection of a large commercial building 
(2 units within one structure) to the northern edge of the site. In line with adjacent buildings 
this would sit within the B1 (office/light industry), B2 (general industry) and B8 (storage and 
distribution) use classes. The applicant supplies ergonomic office supplies from two separate 
arms of the company, but wishes to relocate to allow for expansion of both businesses.

4.2. The proposal would have a footprint of 1255m². It would measure 39m wide x 25-34m 
deep - the north-eastern corner being angled to align with the adjacent roadway – and would 
have a maximum pitched roof ridge height of 7.5m; eaves would stand at 6m. Proposed unit 
design would not be dissimilar to adjacent units.

4.3. Units would be constructed in dove grey, silver and grey cladding, with decorative 
facing brick to the front elevation and dark grey windows, doors, roller shutters and rainwater 
goods.

4.4. Unit 1 would accommodate showroom, staff, kitchen, office, WC and 
storage/distribution space at ground floor, with offices at first floor. 22 staff are currently 
employed by this part of the business (Back Care Solutions) 

4.5. Unit 2 at ground floor would include office, kitchen, WC and storage space at ground 
floor and currently employs 4 staff (Ergonomic Seating Solutions).

4.6. One way access and egress from the site would be from the southern boundary; the 
proposed car park identifying 29 parking spaces (including 2 no: disability spaces) and 2 no: 
electric vehicle charging points.

5. Summary of Supporting Documents

5.1. The application is accompanied by the following:
 Transport assessment (Croft Transport 2060 Rev 2: 20.11.17)
 Swept Path Analysis (Croft 2060-SP01 Rev 1)
 Sustainability statement (E-Mission)
 Planning, design & access statement (PWA Planning 17-393-PS: 1.11.17)
 Air quality assessment (PWA 17-393-PS: Nov 17)
 Environmental noise impact assessment (Red Acoustics R1422-REP01-JW: 

29.11.17)
 Swept path analysis (Croft Transport Dwg 2060-SP01)
 Proposed elevations (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.04/P1: Oct 17)
 Proposed floor plans (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.03/P2: Oct 17)
 Proposed site and location plan (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.02/P2: Jan 17)
 Existing site and location plan (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.01/P3: Jan 17)
 Employment & skills assessment (PWA: Jan 2018)

6. Representations

6.1. Summary of Publicity

6.1.1.Three site notices and a newspaper advertisement have been posted, and 30 
neighbouring properties consulted. Ward Councillors Watts and Higgins have also been 
notified.

Page 41



4

6.2. Letters of Objection or Support

6.2.1.None received

7. Summary of Responses

7.1. Environmental Health have assessed the application and request that conditions are 
imposed re construction management, contaminated land, opening hours and electric vehicle 
recharge points. 

7.2. Lancashire County Council Highways has no objection; confirming that parking 
provision is acceptable, and that the proposed scheme should impact little on highways 
capacity or safety. LCC have asked for conditions to any permission with regards to wheel 
washing (within standard construction management plan), access and parking provision and 
closure of the Hopwood Street access.

7.3. United Utilities have no objection subject to pre-commencement conditions detailing 
sustainable drainage and management systems. UU have however identified that a public 
sewer crosses this site and that they may not permit building over it. An access strip width of 
six metres - three metres either side of the centre line of the sewer - is required, and a 
modification of the site layout, or diversion of the affected public sewer at the applicant's 
expense, may be necessary. Whilst this is not a material planning consideration, as the 
sewer has the potential to disrupt future development the applicant has been advised to seek 
further advice from UU.

8. Material Considerations

8.1. Site Allocation 

8.1.1.The site is designated under Policy E2 (Protection of Employment Areas) of the 
South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

8.1.2.Policy E2 – this policy promotes retention and support of employment sites – 
particularly for uses within the B1, B2 and B8 use classes, in order to provide jobs and buoy 
the local economy.

8.2. Policy Background

Additional policy of marked relevance to this proposal is as follows:
 

8.2.1. National Planning Policy Framework

8.2.1.1. The NPPF at Para’s 7, 14 and 16, and in line with Chapter 1 (Building a strong, 
competitive economy) provide a presumption in favour of sustainable development ‘which 
should be seen as a golden thread running through both plan-making and decision taking’, 
to help to deliver, amongst other things economic development, to support growth and to 
buoy the local economy. Given the sites location it is the Officer’s view that the site is 
especially sustainable and that the development accords with the overall principles of the 
NPPF; in particular:

8.2.1.2. Chapter 4 (Promoting Sustainable Transport) encourages the use of 
alternative and public transport options, and installation of sustainable infrastructure such 
as electric vehicle charging points into new development. This chapter also reflects to some 
extent the sentiments of Chapters 8 (Promoting Healthy Communities) and 10 (Meeting 
the Challenge of Climate Change) which support the move towards a low carbon future.

Page 42



5

8.2.1.3. Chapter 7 (Requiring good design) attaches great importance to the design of 
the built environment which contributes positively to making better places for people.

8.2.2. Central Lancashire Core Strategy

8.2.2.1. The Core Strategy was adopted at full Council on 18th July 2012, and is therefore 
a material consideration in the determination of this planning application.

8.2.2.2. Policy MP states that when considering development, the Council will take a 
positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development in the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

8.2.2.3. Policy 1 (Locating Growth) focusses growth and investment on well-located, 
brownfield sites within key service and urban areas of the Borough; one of which is Bamber 
Bridge.

8.2.2.4. Policy 3 (Travel) encourages alternative, sustainable travel methods to reduce 
dependence on motor vehicles.

8.2.2.5. Policy 17 (Design of New Buildings) requires new development to take account 
of the character and appearance of the local area.

8.2.2.6. Policy 10 (Employment Premises and Sites) seeks to protect existing 
employment for B class uses 

8.2.2.7. Policy 27 (Sustainable Resources and New Development) aims to improve 
the quality of built development by facilitating higher standards of construction, greater 
accessibility and ensuring that sustainable resources are incorporated into new 
development.

8.2.2.8. Policy 30 (Air Quality) assists with air quality improvement through delivery of 
green infrastructure and traffic reduction methods.

8.2.3. South Ribble Local Plan

8.2.3.1. In addition to site allocation policy E2 (above), the following are also pertinent:

8.2.3.2. Policy F1 (Parking Standards) requires all development proposals to provide 
car parking and servicing space in accordance with parking standards adopted by the 
Council. 

8.2.3.3. Policy G17 (Design Criteria for New Development) considers design in 
general terms, and impact of the development upon highways safety, the extended locale 
and the natural environment. 

8.2.3.4. Chapter J (Tackling Climate Change) looks to reduce energy use and carbon 
dioxide emissions in new developments; encouraging the use of renewable energy sources. 

8.2.3.5. Central Lancashire Controlling the Re-Use of Employment Premises SPD 
ensure that ‘all existing employment sites and premises (including those last used for 
employment purposes) are protected for employment use, and the presumption that urban 
sites will be retained for B use classes’.

Page 43



6

8.3. Impact of Development on Neighbouring Properties 

8.3.1. Between 25m and 35m to the west are the rear gardens to terraced residential 
properties facing Station Road; these are separated by an existing scaffolding storage yard. 
Although some impact as a result of noise emission might be possible, its effect on these 
properties as identified by the applicant’s noise impact report (as verified by Environmental 
Health - below) is expected to be minimal; particularly in the wider employment area/ town 
centre context.

8.3.2. Premises to the south and east are already in commercial/light industrial use and as 
such are unlikely to be affected. Approved residential properties beyond units to the north 
would be approximately 55m from the rear wall of the existing unit; more than acceptable for 
a proposal of this nature.

8.4. Design, Character & Appearance

8.4.1. Local Plan Policy G17 (Design Criteria for new development) seeks to ensure new 
development relates well to neighbouring buildings and the extended locality, that layout, 
design and landscaping of all elements of the proposal are of a high quality; providing 
interesting visual environments which respect local character, reflect local distinctiveness, 
and offer appropriate levels of parking and servicing space in line with Policy F1 (Parking 
Standards) of the same document. Core Strategy Policy 17 (Design of New Buildings) 
effectively mirrors these criteria.  

8.4.2. In consideration of the above, local distinctiveness and character of the area have 
been assessed. This part of Bamber Bridge is a traditional, small scale employment area 
comprising a mix of premises in a variety of sizes. Proposed design is considered to offer 
some betterment of a very untidy site which would not only benefit the immediate 
streetscene, but might also encourage others to upgrade in the same way.

8.4.3. NPPF Para: 65 states that ‘local planning authorities should not refuse planning 
permission for developments which promote high levels of sustainability’’. This particularly 
sustainable site is within walking reach of both community and public transport facilities, sits 
well within its own environment and would help to upgrade the employment area whilst 
providing business expansion opportunities for the applicant.

8.5. Highways Considerations, Suitability of Access and Parking Arrangements

8.5.1. The applicant has supplied a swept path analysis of its parking provision, and a 
transport assessment (Croft 2060: Nov 17) which has been assessed by Lancashire County 
Council Highways. The report concludes that the proposal provides access to a range of 
sustainable transport options, would result in similar traffic movements to that of the existing 
plant storage use, and that there are no severe transport impacts resulting from 
development. See LCC Highways comments in response to this report (above).

8.5.2. The proposal identifies 29 parking spaces. Policy F1 of the Local Plan requires a car 
parking standard of 1 per 32m², 48m² and 100m² for B1, B2 and B8 respectively. Taking an 
overall average of 1 space per 60m², provision for this site policy would require somewhere 
in the region of between 27 spaces, and as such parking provision is considered acceptable. 
Proposed one way access and egress is also considered safe.

8.6. Sustainability & Construction Standards

8.6.1. Sustainable Transport - One of the core principles of the NPPF is to ‘actively manage 
patterns of growth to make the fullest use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus 
significant development in locations which are or can be made sustainable’ (Para: 17). It is 

Page 44



7

considered that the proposed layout and its district centre location offers maximum 
accessibility for pedestrians, cyclists and users of public transport.

8.6.2. Construction Standards - One of the objectives of modern construction is to reduce 
energy use and carbon dioxide emissions in new developments, by facilitating higher 
standards of construction. Conditions to ensure appropriate construction standards are 
therefore considered appropriate. The applicant’s sustainability statement claims that 
compliance with the Councils usual BREEAM requirement would be prohibitive in cost terms, 
but that the energy performance aspect of this – as acceptable to Core Strategy 27 - would 
be satisfied by undertaking a SBEM (Simplified Building Energy Model) calculation. SBEM 
determines CO² emission rates in non-domestic buildings in compliance with Part L of the 
Building Regulations. In addition thermal insulation in the building is proposed, along with 
proposed reduction in CO² emissions of at least 19% (as opposed to 15% required by 
policy). As such the applicant requests that any condition refers to SBEM calculations rather 
than BREEAM standards which, when coupled with environmental mitigation already outlined 
across the site (Para 8.7.1) would have the same effect. 

8.6.3.Drainage - Specific drainage proposals have not at this stage been submitted, but a 
condition to require pre-commencement detail would be imposed should permission be 
granted. The applicant has been advised of United Utilities comments with regards to sewer 
diversion and an informative note would be included should permission be granted.

8.7. Air Quality & Noise Impact

8.7.1. The applicants Noise Impact and Air Quality Assessments conclude that the proposal 
would not result in any detrimental impact on surrounding residential properties, and would 
not be constrained by its location. In terms of noise, further mitigation is not required. 
Proposed vehicle charging points, cycle parking, showers to encourage sustainable transport 
and a commitment to develop a travel plan are considered adequate as mitigation towards 
air quality management. Environmental Health have considered the reports and subject to 
conditions to control operating hours of the site during construction and occupation have no 
objection

8.7.2. Central Lancashire Employment Skills SPD (Sept 2017) 

8.7.3. One of Central Lancashire’s priorities is to encourage economic growth, in part by 
helping businesses to find suitable staff, and by improving the skills of local people. One of 
the SPD requirements is that any application for commercial development over 1000m² 
floorspace should be accompanied by an Employment and Skills Statement to identify 
measures to promote local skills e.g. apprenticeship creation, use of local trades, work trials 
etc. 

8.7.4. An Employment & Skills Statement (PWA: Jan 2018) has been submitted which 
clearly shows the applicants commitment to providing employment opportunities including 
guaranteed apprentice interview, apprenticeship and school placements, staff training, and 
support for locally sourced suppliers and employees. The proposal would also allow 
expansion of an established local employer into purpose built premises.

9. Conclusion

9.1 It is considered that this untidy, brownfield site has little potential to revert to any 
appropriate use other than industrial. Planning policy dictates its protection for the B class 
uses and as the above commentary clearly shows that all other requirements of the plan 
have been achieved, this proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable.

Page 45



8

9.2   The proposed development is deemed to be in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Core Strategy and Local Plan Policies as detailed within this report and 
the Central Lancashire Employment Premises and Employment Skills SPD’s, and is 
recommended for approval subject to imposition of conditions.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval with Conditions. 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

1. The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out with reference to the following 
approved plans and suite of documents:

 Transport assessment (Croft Transport 2060 Rev 2: 20.11.17)
 Swept Path Analysis (Croft 2060-SP01 Rev 1)
 Sustainability statement (E-Mission)
 Planning, design & access statement (PWA Planning 17-393-PS: 1.11.17)
 Air quality assessment (PWA 17-393-PS: Nov 17)
 Environmental noise impact assessment (Red Acoustics R1422-REP01-JW: 

29.11.17)
 Swept path analysis (Croft Transport Dwg 2060-SP01)
 Proposed elevations (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.04/P1: Oct 17)
 Proposed floor plans (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.03/P2: Oct 17)
 Proposed site and location plan (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.02/P2: Jan 17)
 Existing site and location plan (Architectural Services Dwg 17.072.01/P3: Jan 17)
 Employment & skills assessment (PWA: Jan 2018)

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy 
and Local Plan 2012-2026 Policy G17

3. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the associated parking 
spaces identified on approved drawing 17.072.02 (AS: Jan 17) shall be drained and 
surfaced with a material to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  This area shall 
be retained at all times thereafter and shall not be used for any purpose other than 
the parking of vehicles.
REASON: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate on-site parking in the 
interests of residential amenity and highway safety as required by Policy F1 and 
Policy G17 in the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026

4. No part of the development shall be commenced until the amended site access from 
the adopted highway has been constructed in accordance with a scheme that shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority as part of an appropriate legal 184 agreement, under the 
Highways Act 1980. 
REASON: In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that 
the final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to enable all traffic to enter and leave the premises in a safe 
manner without causing a hazard to other road users and to be in accordance with 
Policy G17 in the South Ribble Local Plan 2012-2026.. 

Page 46



9

5. No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the approved 
scheme referred to in condition 4 has been constructed and completed in accordance 
with the scheme details.
REASON: In order that the traffic generated by the development does not exacerbate 
unsatisfactory highway conditions in advance of the completion of the highway 
scheme/works

6. Prior to commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme and 
means of disposal, based on sustainable drainage principles with evidence of an 
assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed 
after completion) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
The surface water drainage scheme must be restricted to existing run off rates and 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water 
shall discharge to the public sewer system either directly or indirectly. 
The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with 
the approved details.
REASON: In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority that the final details of 
proposed surface water drainage are acceptable before work commences on site, for 
the avoidance of doubt and to protect the living conditions of future occupants of the 
site in accordance with Policy 29 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy

7. No development shall take place until details of the implementation, maintenance and 
management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented and 
thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  Those 
details shall include:
a) a timetable for its implementation, and 
b) management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 
REASON: In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority that the final details of 
proposed drainage are acceptable before work commences on site, to reduce the risk 
of flooding, to protect the living conditions of future occupants of the site by ensuring 
satisfactory storage and/or disposal of surface water from the site, and for the 
avoidance of doubt in accordance with Policy 29 in the Central Lancashire Core 
Strategy with Policy 29 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy

8. The premises hereby approved, shall not be open to visiting members of the public 
outside the hours of 0800 hrs to 1800 hrs Monday to Saturday and 1000 hrs to 1600 
hrs on Sunday, Bank or Public Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of nearby residential properties in 
accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy 

9. Once works commence on the site, should site operatives discover any adverse 
ground conditions and suspect it to be contaminated, they should report this to the 
Site Manager and the Contaminated Land Officer at South Ribble Borough Council.  
Works in that location should cease and the problem area roped off. A Competent 
Person shall be employed to undertake sampling and analysis of the suspected 
contaminated materials. A Report which contains details of sampling methodologies 
and analysis results, together with remedial methodologies shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. The approved remediation scheme 
shall be implemented prior to further development works taking place and prior to 
occupation of the development. Should no adverse ground conditions be encountered 

Page 47



10

during site works and/or development, photographic evidence of all ground working 
shall be submitted together with a description of the ground encountered prior to 
occupation of the building(s), which confirms that no adverse ground conditions were 
found.
REASON: To ensure that the site investigation and remediation strategy will not 
cause pollution of ground and surface waters both on and off site, in accordance with 
Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Policy G14 in the South Ribble 
Local Plan 2012-2026

10. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout 
the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

 parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
 loading and unloading of plant and materials 
 storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
 location of site compound
 suitable wheel washing facilities for vehicles leaving site. Details also to include 

mechanical sweeping of roads adjacent to the site. 
 measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
 measures to control the emission of noise during construction
 details of external lighting to be used during construction
 a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and  construction 

works 
 anticipated delivery times

REASON:  To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with 
Policy 17 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy and Local Plan 2012-2026 Policy 
G17

11. The development hereby permitted shall be required to achieve a minimum Target 
Emission Rate of 19% above 2013 Building Regulations. No phase or sub-phase of 
the development shall commence until a Design Stage Assessment Report or similar 
calculation e.g. SBEM showing that the development will achieve this target has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority
REASON:  To be in accordance with Policy 27 in the Central Lancashire Core 
Strategy 

12. On completion of the development hereby approved a Building Research 
Establishment issued 'Post Construction Review Certificate' or SBEM 'As Built' 
document confirming that the development has achieved the level identified by 
condition 11 of this permission shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
REASON:  To be in accordance with Policy 27 in the Central Lancashire Core 
Strategy  

13. During construction and site clearance, no machinery, plant or powered tools shall be 
operated, outside the hours of 0800 hrs to 1800 hrs Monday to Friday, 09:00 to 13:00 
Saturdays. No construction shall take place at any time on Sundays or nationally 
recognised bank holidays.
REASON: To safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents particularly with 
regard to the effects of noise in accordance with Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire 
Core Strategy 

14. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, cycle storage facilities as 
identified on approved site plan 17.072.02 P2 shall be provided. These shall be 
maintained and retained thereafter.

Page 48



11

Reason: To allow for the effective use of the parking areas the promotion of 
sustainable forms of transport and aid social inclusion.

15. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until details of 
facilities for the storage of refuse and waste materials for each unit have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and completed entirely in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  The approved facilities shall not be located 
within any of the designated parking spaces identified by approved drawing 
17.072.02 (AS: Jan 17) and shall be retained thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To safeguard the character and visual appearance of the area and to 
safeguard the living conditions of any nearby residents particularly with regard to 
odours and/or disturbance in accordance with Policy 27 in the Central Lancashire 
Core Strategy and Local Plan 2012-2026 Policy G17

16. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, 2 no: electric vehicle recharge 
points with appropriate infrastructure and cabling (minimum 3m) as identified by 
approved Site Plan 17.072.02 Rev P2 (Architectural Services) shall be provided. 
Bays shall be appropriately marked to ensure the sole use by electric vehicles, and 
shall be maintained and retained thereafter.
REASON: To enable and encourage the use of alternative fuel use for transport 
purposes in accordance with Policy 3 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy

17. The existing access point on Hopwood Street shall be physically and permanently 
closed and the existing footway and kerbing of the vehicular crossing shall be 
reinstated in accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for 
Construction of Estate Roads, concurrent with the formation of the new access.
REASON: To limit the number of access points to, and to maintain the proper 
construction   of the highway in accordance with Policy G17 in the South Ribble Local 
Plan 2012-2026

18. No deliveries of construction materials, or removal of construction waste shall be 
undertaken outside the hours of 09:00 - 17:00 Monday to Friday. Deliveries or 
removal of waste shall not be carried out at weekends or on nationally recognised 
bank holidays.
REASON: To safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents in accordance with 
Policy 17 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy

19. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a scheme for the 
disposal of foul water shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Foul shall be drained on a separate system and this scheme, 
which shall be maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details, 
shall be implemented during construction and no building shall be occupied until the 
approved scheme has been completed to serve that building. Confirmation that a 
sewer diversion is not required from Untied Utilities shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority
REASON: To safeguard local watercourses and avoid pollution of the water 
environment in accordance with Policy 29 in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy

 

Page 49



12

RELEVANT POLICY

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

Central Lancashire Core Strategy
1 Locating Growth 
3 Travel  
10 Employment Premises and Sites  
17 Design of New Buildings  
27 Sustainable Resources and New Developments 
30 Air Quality 

South Ribble Local Plan
F1 Car Parking
G17 Design Criteria for New Development

Central Lancashire Supplementary Planning Documents
Employment Premises 
Employment Skills

Informative Note:  

Other application Informative
1. Attention is drawn to the condition(s) attached to this planning permission.  In order to 
discharge these conditions an Application for Approval of Details Reserved by Condition form 
must be submitted, together with details required by each condition imposed.  The fee for 
such an application is £97.  The forms can be found on South Ribble Borough Council's 
website www.southribble.gov.uk

2. Highways Note 1: The applicant is advised that the amended vehicle access will need 
to be constructed under an appropriate legal agreement. The Highways Authority hereby 
reserves the right to provide the highways works within the highway associated with this 
proposal. Provision of the highway works includes design, procurement of the work by 
contract and supervision of the works. The applicant is advised to contact Lancashire County 
Council before works begin on site. Further information and advice can be found at 
www.lancashire.gov.uk.

3. United Utilities Note 1: A public sewer crosses this site and United Utilities may not 
permit building over it. An access strip width of six metres, three metres either side of the 
centre line of the sewer would be required - the minimum distances specified in the current 
issue of "Sewers for Adoption", for maintenance or replacement. Therefore a modification of 
the site layout, or a diversion of the affected public sewer at the applicant's expense, may be 
necessary. To establish if a sewer diversion is feasible, the applicant must discuss this at an 
early stage with the Developer Engineer at wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk as a 
lengthy lead in period may be required if a sewer diversion proves to be acceptable. Deep 
rooted shrubs and trees should not be planted in the vicinity of the public sewer and overflow 
systems. The applicant can discuss any of the above with Developer Engineer, Graham 
Perry, by email at wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk.

4. United Utilities Note 2: A separate metered supply to each unit will be required at the 
applicant's expense and all internal pipework must comply with current water supply (water 
fittings) regulations 1999. Please contact UU on 0845 7462200 regarding water mains/public 
sewers or 0870 7510101 to access a fully supported mapping service.

It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any 
assets that may cross the site and any proposed development.

Page 50



13

5. United Utilities Note 3: The site should be drained on a separate system with foul 
water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. 
We would ask the developer to consider the following drainage options in the following order 
of priority:

a) An adequate soak away or some other adequate infiltration system (approval must 
be obtained from local authority/building control/environment agency) or where that is not 
reasonably practical

b) A watercourse (approval must be obtained from the riparian owner/land drainage 
authority/environment agency; or where this is not reasonably practicable

c)  A sewer (approval must be obtained from United Utilities)

To reduce the volume of surface water drainage from the site we would promote the 
use of permeable paving on all driveways and other hard standing areas including footpaths 
and parking areas.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	6 Planning Application 07/2017/3283/FUL - Windmill Hotel, Preston New Road, Mellor Brook
	7 Planning Application 07/2017/3413/REM - Expac (preston) Ltd, Dunkirk Mill, Dunkirk Lane, Moss Side, Leyland
	8 Planning Application 07/2017/3818/FUL - Land At Club Street, Club Street, Bamber Bridge

